
MINUTES
LINCOLN-LANCASTER COUNTY CONSOLIDATION TASK FORCE

COUNTY-CITY BUILDING
555 SOUTH 10TH STREET, ROOM 303

FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 22, 2013
8:30 A.M.

Committee Members Present: Ann Post, Chair; Russ Bayer; Dick Campbell; Mike
DeKalb; Jan Gauger; Dale Gruntorad; James Jeffers; Larry Lewis; Jean Lovell; Larry
Melichar; Darl Naumann; W. Don Nelson; Kerry Eagan (Ex-Officio); and Trish Owen
(Ex-Officio)

Committee Members Absent: Amanda McGill

Others Present: Karen Amen, Facilitator; Cori Beattie, Deputy Lancaster County Clerk;
Teresa Meier, City Clerk; Steve Henderson, Chief Information Officer, Information
Services (IS); and Ann Taylor, Lancaster County Clerk’s Office

The Chair called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m.

NOTE: The following documents were provided to the Task Force prior to the meeting
(Exhibits A-C):

• A questionnaire in preparation for the meeting
• Responses to the questionnaire
• Comments submitted by Teresa Meier, Lincoln City Clerk, regarding

suggested criteria for potential recommendations regarding combining the
Lincoln City Clerk’s Office with Lancaster County Clerk’s Office

Karen Amen, Facilitator, presented a more detailed agenda for the meeting and a
summary of Task Force motions and decisions to date (Exhibit D).

1 APPROVE MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 8, 2013 MEETING

MOTION: DeKalb moved and Jeffers seconded approval of the November 8, 2013
minutes.  Bayer, Campbell, DeKalb, Gauger, Gruntorad, Jeffers, Lewis,
Lovell, Melichar, Naumann, Nelson and Post voted aye.  McGill was absent
from voting.  Motion carried 12-0.

2 REVIEW MEETING OF NOVEMBER 8, 2013

Amen reviewed the outcome of the November 8th meeting.

Page 1



3 DISCUSSION WITH FORMER STATE SENATOR BOB
WICKERSHAM: GOVERNMENT CONSOLIDATION AND
COOPERATION LEGISLATION

Lovell introduced former State Senator Bob Wickersham, noting Wickersham served in
several capacities in the Legislature, including Chair of the Revenue Committee.

Wickersham discussed his work in the Legislature related to government consolidation,
particularly regarding Legislative Resolution (LR) 45 that resulted in the addition of
Article XV-18 to the Nebraska Constitution which was approved by the voters in 1998. 
He said the issue of city/county mergers had a long history by the time that legislation
was passed, noting senators had been uncertain how to accomplish mergers in
Nebraska fearing a dominant municipality might impose a consolidation on rural
residents in a county in an effort to broaden their tax base and not extend its services
to the rural areas.  Wickersham said the Legislature first sought to address the issue
with differential levies.  A proposal was placed on the ballot in 1996 and defeated by
voters.  In 1997, the Revenue Committee caused the same issue to be reintroduced
and it advanced to the floor in 1998.  There was lengthy debate and it was apparent
the proposed resolution would not be adopted.  He said language was then drafted to
provide for a city/county merger through a vote and that idea was accepted.  The
proposal was adopted following an amendment to provide the ability to dissolve the
merger if necessary.  The issue was placed on the ballot and approved.  Enabling
legislation was addressed the next year, dealing with two major topics: 1) The kinds of
things that would directly affect a city or municipality and its governmental functions;
and 2) Tax considerations.  Wickersham said the resulting legislation was extremely
complicated.  He said he was dissatisfied with certain aspects of the Interlocal
Agreement Act and sponsored the Joint Public Agency (JPA) Act.  He said that
legislation was designed for the creation of new political subdivisions.

In response to a question submitted by Gruntorad, Wickersham said he is not aware of
any litigation concerning LR45CA since it was enacted.

Wickersham noted a question had also been posed as to whether he believes the
constitutional language is broad enough to encompass total consolidation of the City of
Lincoln/Lancaster County.  He said it was specifically designed to do that. 

Nelson asked whether the legislative intent laid as a predicate in the Legislative Record
so if it were challenged there would be a firm basis for the Court to conclude that the
intent was there.  Wickersham said he is sure there is, but cautioned the Supreme
Court does not always pay attention to that discussion when reviewing a constitutional
amendment.  He explained that the intent of the Legislature in submitting an issue to
the voters may be clear, but not the intent of the voters.

Page 2



Nelson asked whether the JPA could be used to create a municipal governance
structure that would run several consolidated general purpose departments, such as
public safety, public works and health.  Wickersham said at some point you could bump
up against Constitutional constraints and suggested a legal opinion may be needed.

Jeffers said he would like to see the position of County Engineer made accountable to
the County Board.  He also questioned the requirement that the person holding that
position be an engineer.  Wickersham said it would have to be addressed legislatively. 
Eagan noted an elected office can only be eliminated by a vote of the people. 

4 COUNTY AND CITY CLERK CONSOLIDATION/COOPERATION
OPPORTUNITIES

Task Force members participated in a consensus building exercise in which they
indicated their level of support for consolidating the City Clerk’s Office into the County
Clerk’s Office by standing under signs labeled: Strong Support; Support; Neutral; Can
Not Support, Will Step Aside; and Can Not Support, Will Block (see Exhibit E).

DeKalb, who indicated he could not support doing so but would not block the effort,
said he doesn’t believe there would be financial savings or operational efficiencies.  He
felt moving the County Clerk’s Office to the City would be a better solution.  Campbell
noted an elected official cannot be eliminated. 

Melichar, who indicated strong support, said he is a firm believer in consolidation and
stressed the need for the two departments to be on the same database.

MOTION: Nelson moved and Naumann seconded to consolidate the City’s Clerk’s
Office into the County Clerk’s Office, with functions determining staffing. 
Bayer, Campbell, Gauger, Jeffers, Melichar, Naumann, Nelson and Post
voted aye.  Lewis, Lovell and DeKalb voted nay.  Gruntorad abstained
from voting.  McGill was absent from voting.  Motion carried 8-3, with one
abstention.

The Chair said the recommendation will move forward for final approval at the
December 13th Meeting.

Campbell suggested the Task Force also address the issue of the information systems,
pointing out that compatibility would make consolidation easier.  It was noted the Task
Force voted at the November 8th meeting to recommend that the City and County look
at merging their software infrastructure.

Gruntorad expressed concern that the Task Force has taken a “fly-over” approach and
has not fully examined the issues.

Page 3



Campbell suggested the Task Force urge the City and County governing bodies to ask
the Information Services (IS) Director to make a recommendation for a single unified
information technology (IT) system for the City and County. 

Bayer felt there should be stronger language.  He suggested the Task Force direct the
governing bodies to have a third-party consultant analyze the systems that are in place
and make recommendation on a unified system.

Gauger concurred, adding she doesn’t believe it should be placed “on the back of the IT
Director.”

A refined statement was offered: Direct the City and County governing bodies to move
to a single unified system for information technology (IT) and enterprise content
management, using a third-party entity to do the analysis and make a
recommendation.  
Task Force members indicated their level of support by standing under signs labeled:
Strong Support; Support; Neutral; Can Not Support, Will Step Aside; and Can Not
Support, Will Block (see Exhibit F).

MOTION: DeKalb moved and Campbell seconded to urge the City and County
governing bodies to use a third-party entity to analyze and recommend a
single unified system for information technology (IT) and enterprise
content management.  Bayer, Campbell, DeKalb, Gauger, Gruntorad,
Jeffers, Lewis, Lovell, Melichar, Naumann, Nelson and Post voted aye. 
McGill was absent from voting.  Motion carried 12-0.

DeKalb noted there may be other areas where software systems are in conflict, citing
the Geographic Information System (GIS) as an example, and said those should be
addressed in a similar way.

5 TIMING FOR PUBLIC SAFETY CONSOLIDATION

Campbell noted the Task Force had come up with a list of several short term
consolidation measures (training, vehicle maintenance, firing range and service desk),
for the Lincoln Police Department (LPD) and Lancaster Sheriff’s Office (LSO).

Nelson said he believes the Task Force strongly favors law enforcement consolidation
and said it is his belief that sizeable savings and efficiencies could be achieved.  He said
there is strong support on the City side but Sheriff Wagner has indicated that he is
strongly opposed and will block efforts.

Gauger concurred, stating she believes it is an area that provides a huge opportunity
for savings in personnel and costs.

Page 4



Nelson said he feels an urgency to move in that direction while Tom Casady, City Public
Safety Director, and Jim Peschong, Chief of Police, are in office, noting they are very
committed to making it work. 

Campbell suggested that consolidating certain areas of each of the departments could
bring about the “meshing” that would make it easier to move to public safety
consolidation.

Amen noted the criteria the Task Force has discussed (Exhibit G) tend to be more short
term oriented and said perhaps the white paper that will be a follow-up to the Task
Force’s work will represent the tactical thinking.  She said it struck her that the
departments that gave presentations to the Task Force were very much present
moment oriented and found it difficult to think strategically.  Amen suggested there be
one more criterion, such as “long term strategically beneficial.” 

DeKalb suggested another criterion could be moving towards a unified government.

Gauger asked Nelson whether he believes a JPA for public safety could be a short term
solution.  Nelson said he likes the tool but feels it would be better to achieve
consolidation through consensus under the current statutory and constitutional scheme.

Gruntorad asked whether a JPA would allow for two different benefit systems and wage
structures.  Post questioned whether you would want to have officers working side-by-
side with different compensation and benefits.  Nelson noted the departments have
separate collective bargaining units and you would have to abide by the terms of the
existing contracts until there was a dissolution vote or a new collective bargaining unit
was formed for all.  He said eventually you could have a merged salary and
compensation schedule for the public safety department.  Eagan said there is authority
to have a law enforcement JPA but it would require the involvement of the Sheriff
because it is an elected position.  He said the Municipal County Act would take care of
the problem because the charter would define which elected officials are desired. 
Eagan said the overarching goal is a unified City-County government, noting the Task
Force has identified a public safety department as a desirable component.  Something
less than that could be accomplished with the agreement of the parties through a JPA
or interlocal agreement. 

MOTION: Nelson moved and Bayer seconded to make the recommendation in
regards to the public safety function parallel to the other intra-
departmental recommendations, not distinguishing different time lines for
specific groups.

Nelson noted a time line of 10-15 years for consolidation of law enforcement had
previously been discussed.

Page 5



Campbell suggested the Task Force state the ultimate goal is to have a merged public
safety organization, with training, vehicle maintenance, firing range and the service
desk as the first four elements, and not attach a time line.

DeKalb noted there is an opportunity to accomplish a unified public safety organization
in a shorter horizon.  

The maker of the motion withdrew his motion, stating his intent was to make the
recommendations be time neutral.

Post asked whether there was consensus for two-tiered or three-tiered
recommendations (see Exhibit H).

Bayer said it is his understanding that the Task Force is giving guidance to Eagan, who
is drafting the final report, and said the overriding direction is to move to a
consolidated Cit-County government, with some short term measures.

Nelson exited the meeting at 10:25 a.m.

6 PREVIEW OF DECEMBER 13, 2013 MEETING

A. DRAFT FINAL REPORT

Eagan presented a draft of the final report (Exhibit I), noting the analysis for the City
and County Clerks will be added.  

Nelson returned to the meeting at 10:27 a.m.

Eagan said the Recommendations Section will include the steps the Task Force has
identified to accomplish the goal of a unified City-County government through the
Municipal County Act or other legal avenues.

Bayer exited the meeting at 10:34 a.m.

DeKalb suggested that the overall public safety umbrella mentioned in the analysis for
LPD and LSO include the other public safety agencies that have been discussed, such
as the University of Nebraska-Lincoln Police Department (UNL-PD), Lincoln Airport
Police, etc.

Gruntorad noted an external study of consolidation by a neutral party has also been
discussed.  

Page 6



Post asked Eagan to send a copy of the completed report to the Task Force members in
an electronic format to allow them to make comments and/or corrections before the
final meeting.

B. WHITE PAPER

Item was not covered in the meeting.

C. PROCESS FOR FINAL DECISIONS

There was consensus to schedule final review and approval of the draft report on the
December 13th meeting agenda.  The Task Force will also discuss the timing of
presenting the report to the City-County Common and responsibility for taking it public. 
Amen suggested that the Task Force plan for a longer meeting on that date. 

7 ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 10:36 a.m.

Submitted by Ann Taylor, Lancaster County Clerk’s Office.

Page 7
























































